## **Cover Page - Item 1**

## **Interactive Financial Advisors**

100 Batson Ct. Suite 104 New Lenox, IL 60451

630-472-1300 phone 800-261-1660 (toll free) 844-270-4905 facsimile

www.someonewhocares.com

January 17, 2024

## Form ADV Part 2A Brochure

This brochure provides information about the qualifications and business practices of Interactive Financial Advisors ("IFA"). If you have any questions about the contents of this brochure, please contact us at (630) 472-1300 or <a href="www.someonewhocares.com">www.someonewhocares.com</a>. The information in this brochure has not been approved or verified by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or by any state securities authority.

Additional information about Interactive Financial Advisors is also available on the SEC's website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov. The searchable IARD/CRD number for Interactive Financial Advisors is 125117.

Interactive Financial Advisors is a Registered Investment Adviser. Registration with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or any state securities authority does not imply a certain level of skill or training.

## **Material Changes - Item 2**

Form ADV Part 2 requires registered investment advisers to amend their brochure when information becomes materially inaccurate. If there are any material changes to an adviser's disclosure brochure, the adviser is required to notify you and provide you with a description of the material changes.

On January 17, 2024, we submitted our annual updating amendment for fiscal year 2023 and amended Item 4 of our Form ADV Part 2A Brochure to reflect discretionary assets under management of \$284,940,831.

Effective December 31, 2023, Richard L. Peterbok became Chief Compliance Officer for Interactive Financial Advisors.

# **Table of Contents - Item 3**

# **Contents**

Cover Page - Item 1	1
Material Changes - Item 2	2
Table of Contents - Item 3	3
Advisory Business - Item 4	4
Fees and Compensation - Item 5	11
Performance-Based Fees and Side-By-Side Management - Item 6	16
Types of Clients - Item 7	16
Methods of Analysis, Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss - Item 8	16
Disciplinary Information - Item 9	18
Other Financial Industry Activities and Affiliations - Item 10	19
Code of Ethics, Participation or Interest in Client Transactions and Personal Trading - Item 11	19
Brokerage Practices - Item 12	20
Review of Accounts - Item 13	21
Client Referrals and Other Compensation - Item 14	21
Custody - Item 15	23
Investment Discretion - Item 16	23
Voting Client Securities - Item 17	23
Financial Information - Item 18	24
Requirements for State-Registered Advisors - Item 19	24
Miscellaneous	2/

## **Advisory Business - Item 4**

#### **Advisory Firm**

Interactive Financial Advisors ("IFA") is registered as an investment adviser with United States Securities and Exchange Commission. IFA is a corporation formed under Illinois law on February 20, 2003. We are based in New Lenox, IL. IFA has been providing investment advisory services since 2003. OrganizAmerica is sole owner of IFA. Richard L. Peterbok is the sole owner of OrganizAmerica.

## **Description of Services and Fees**

Interactive Financial Advisors is a fee-only independent financial adviser. We provide money management for the mid-market client by incorporating financial planning, investment portfolio management, risk management and other aggregated financial services. We combine industry experience and comprehensive research to provide quality advisory services to our clients. Currently, we offer the following investment advisory services, which are personalized to each individual client:

- Portfolio Management Services
- Selection of Third-Party Advisors, Platforms and Programs
- Financial Planning Services
- Advisory Consulting Services
- Advisory Services to Retirement Plans
- Sub-Advisory Services

The following paragraphs describe our services and fees. Please refer to the description of each investment advisory service listed below for information on how we tailor our advisory services to your individual needs. Also, you may see the term Investment Adviser Representative ("IAR") throughout this Brochure. As used in this Brochure, our IARs are our firm's officers and all individuals providing investment advice on behalf of our firm. Some of our IARs may have relationships with other firms (please see Item 5 - Fees and Compensation).

This brochure is not a client agreement and does not create contractual obligations between IFA and its clients. If you choose IFA as your Advisor, the relationship will be documented with a client agreement.

## **Portfolio Management Services**

We offer portfolio management services to clients and prospective clients. The portfolio management services are offered on a fully discretionary basis with regard to the allocation and investment management of client assets among various asset categories such as equity securities, fixed income securities, mutual funds and exchange traded funds.

IFA's asset allocation models range from conservative short term to aggressive long term, as well as various specific purpose models. They are developed and managed in accordance with research and analysis conducted by IFA. Once the client portfolio is constructed, IFA provides ongoing supervision of the portfolio as changes in market conditions and client circumstances may require.

Working with our clients, IFA tailors investment advice to meet the needs and investment objectives of its clients. If you retain our firm for portfolio management services, we will meet with you to determine your investment objectives, risk tolerance, and other relevant information (the "suitability information")

at the beginning of our advisory relationship. We will use the suitability information we gather from our initial meeting to develop a strategy that enables our firm to tailor its advice. Through ongoing interaction with our clients, IFA is able to give you continued focused investment advice and/or to make investments on your behalf.

#### **Invest With Trust**

As part of our portfolio management services, our *Invest With Trust* service customizes an investment portfolio for you in accordance with your risk tolerance and investing objectives. We will then allocate and manage your assets among various asset classes. These asset classes include U.S. Equity, U.S. Fixed Income, U.S. Government Securities, International Equity and International Fixed Income and Alternative Investments. These allocations may change from time-to-time with the changing needs of our clients. It is important, therefore, that our clients continue to inform us of changes in their investment needs and objectives.

Our *Invest With Trust* portfolio management service includes assistance in the selection, retention, and disposition of investment positions. We offer a product line where asset allocation models, ranging from conservative short term to aggressive long term, are developed and managed based on our proprietary research and analysis. The *Invest With Trust* service also offers various specific purpose models; that may include, but are not limited to, bond distribution and stock distribution. Once we construct an investment portfolio for you we monitor your portfolio's performance on an ongoing basis, and will rebalance the portfolio as necessary.

## **Recommendation of Sub Advisors**

As part of our overall portfolio management strategy, we will recommend sub advisors to manage all or a portion of your account where the allocation meets the needs and investment objectives of clients. All sub advisors recommended by our firm are registered as investment advisers or exempt from registration requirements. These sub advisors might specialize in traditional or alternative investments. Factors that we take into consideration when making our recommendations include, but are not limited to, the following: the sub adviser's performance, methods of analysis, fees, your financial needs, investment goals, risk tolerance, and investment objectives. Once a sub advisory account has been established, we will provide all administrative duties that are required to service your account. The sub adviser will have little or no direct contact with you. Our responsibility to you will be to: (i) continuously evaluate the performance of your portfolio to ensure the sub adviser selected adheres to your asset allocation guidelines; (ii) make recommendations regarding the sub adviser as market factors and your personal goals dictate, (iii) assume discretionary authority to hire or fire the sub adviser where such action is deemed to be in your best interest.

At the inception of the relationship, we encourage you to complete our *CARES Client Confidential Information Organizer* (questionnaire). We use this questionnaire to conduct analysis through the CARES Process on the data we collected from you. \*This analysis is designed to help to determine, the time horizon for each client's goals, client risk tolerance, and the amount of financial commitment required for each goal e.g. a lump sum amount or ongoing savings. On completion of the analysis, we prepare the *Making Life Better Official Report* ("the Report"). We will then utilize the Report in offering to assist you in making selections between the various asset allocation products available. Individual investment portfolios are structured in accordance with pre-established asset allocation models in keeping within the context of your investment perspective and acceptable degree of risk tolerance. The fee to complete the analysis, which is separate and distinct from the portfolio management fee described below, will

range between \$48 and \$7,500 depending on the scope and complexity of the client's financial circumstances. This financial analysis fee is negotiable at the discretion of IFA.

Clients will enter into a written Financial Planning agreement which will govern the planning relationship between the firm and the client. There are a number of different services IFA provides, and clients may choose to take advantage of some or all of them.

For example, Clients may elect to retain IFA for portfolio management services, but forego the preparation of the *Making Life Better Official Report*. The signed acknowledgment will be maintained in the client master file. IFA images new account docs with ongoing notes and reviews retained by IAR.

We also offer our *Invest With Trust* portfolio management service through the use of various annuity products. The assets within the annuity are managed through this portfolio management service. The annuities may assist in providing protection from the potential of outliving your money.

If the client chooses the "Invest With Trust" service, the client will enter into a written investment advisory agreement that will govern the relationship with the client and the firm.

If you participate in our discretionary portfolio management services, we require you to grant our firm discretionary authority to manage your account. Discretionary authorization will allow our firm to determine the specific securities and the amount of securities, to be purchased or sold for your account without your approval prior to each transaction. Discretionary authority is typically granted by the investment advisory agreement you sign with our firm, a power of attorney, or trading authorization forms. If you enter into non-discretionary arrangements with our firm, we must obtain your approval prior to executing any transactions on behalf of your account. This service also requires a written agreement.

Upon entering into an Investment Advisory Agreement for Invest With Trust services, you will open an account with an independent qualified custodian to hold the account assets. We currently utilize Axos Advisor Services, ("Axos'), member FINRA/SIPC.

## The Legacy Service - Mutual Fund/ETF Strategies

As part of our discretionary asset management services, we offer the Legacy Service ("Legacy") which utilizes mutual fund and ETF strategies.

The Legacy accounts are managed to diversify a client's investments and will generally use mutual fund securities but may also utilize ETFs. Other types of investments may also be recommended where the Investment Adviser Representative(s) deem such investments appropriate based on the client's stated goals and objectives. Investments and allocations are determined and based upon each client's predefined objectives, risk tolerance, time horizon, financial horizon, financial information, and various other suitability factors. Clients may impose restrictions on the management of the account(s). Account restrictions and guidelines imposed by clients may affect the composition and performance of a client's portfolio. For these reasons, performance of the portfolio may not be identical with other clients of IFA. On an ongoing basis, the IARs assigned to you will review your financial circumstances and investment objectives and will make any adjustments to your portfolio as may be necessary to achieve the desired results.

Upon entering into an Investment Advisory Agreement, you will open an account with an independent qualified custodian to hold the Account assets. We currently utilize Axos Advisor Services, member FINRA/SIPC ("Axos"), an unaffiliated and independent qualified custodian and its clearing firm.

## Selection of Third-Party Advisors, Platforms and Programs

IFA offers clients a variety of different investment management programs, each particularly suited to individual needs. These programs are offered through various arrangements with third party advisors, model providers and platform services. In order to assist clients in the selection of investment management programs, we will typically gather information from you about your financial situation, investment objectives, and reasonable restrictions you want imposed on the management of the account. Your investment adviser representative will work with you to customize a portfolio that meets these objectives. Your customized portfolio may include IFA managed models as described above, third party advisory arrangements and/or utilization of specific model providers.

<u>Third-Party Advisors</u> — We have entered into agreements with various third-party investment advisors for the provision of certain investment advisory services. Factors considered in the selection of a third-party advisor include but may not be limited to: i) Our firm's preference for a particular third-party advisor; ii) the client's risk tolerance, goals and objectives, as well as investment experience; and, iii) the amount of client assets available for investment.

The third party advisors are registered investment advisors who offer investment advisory and investment management programs. A complete description of the services provided, the amount of total fees, the payment structure, termination provisions and other aspects of the third-party advisor's advisory business are detailed and disclosed in: i) the third-party advisor's Form ADV Part 2A; ii) the program wrap brochure (if applicable) or other applicable disclosure documents; iii) the disclosure documents of the portfolio manager(s) selected; or, iv) the third-party advisor's account opening documents. A copy of all relevant disclosure documents of the third-party advisor and of the individual portfolio manager(s) will be provided to anyone interested in these programs/managers. You will be required to sign an agreement directly with recommended third party advisor(s).

<u>Model Portfolio Selection</u> – IFA offers model portfolio selection services which allows IFA to exercise discretion to select model portfolios managed by IFA and third party non-affiliated investment advisors, collectively referred to as "model providers". We will select the model portfolio(s) that align with your risk tolerance and investment objectives. The model providers are available to IFA through the Axos Advisory Services platform. The platform provides IFA with discretionary authority to implement selected model providers on your behalf. Securities transactions will be decided upon and executed by the model provider on a discretionary basis. This means that the model provider selected will have the ability to buy and sell securities in your account without obtaining your approval. Generally, clients may not impose restrictions on investing in certain securities or types of securities in accounts managed by a third-party advisor.

We will have the discretionary authority to select the model provider and the model portfolio(s) as well as the ability to reallocate funds from or to a model provider and/or model portfolio(s). You should be aware that there may be other model providers not recommended by our firm, that are suitable for you and that may be less costly than arrangements recommended by our firm. No guarantees can be made that your financial goals or objectives will be achieved through the selection of model providers or by a recommended/selected model portfolio.

We will periodically review reports provided to clients. We will contact clients at least annually, or more often to review your financial situation and objectives, and, to assist you in understanding and evaluating the services provided by a third-party advisor and/or model provider. Please notify us of any changes in your financial situation, investment objectives, or account restrictions.

## **Family and Employee Access Program**

We offer access to our portfolio management services to the family and employees of our Firm at a reduced asset management fee. Family/Employee pricing for asset management services is available to spouses, children, step-children, and guardianship relationships. Employees eligible for reduced asset management pricing include any employees who have been employed for at least one year through our Firm. The account requirements and fees are negotiable and will be specified in a service agreement.

## **Financial Planning Services**

We offer goal oriented financial planning advice, which is primarily designed to supplement our portfolio management services, as described above. Financial planning services are offered through our *CARES Client Confidential Information Organizer* which will result in a *Making Life Better Official Report*. We offer broad-based, modular, and consultative financial planning services to our clients and prospective clients. We may use financial planning software to determine your current financial position and to define and quantify your long-term goals and objectives.

Financial planning will typically involve providing a variety of advisory services to clients regarding the management of their financial resources based upon an analysis of their individual needs. If you retain our firm and sign the Financial Planning agreement which governs the relationship between the client and the firm for financial planning services, we will meet with you to gather information about your financial circumstances and objectives. We may also use financial planning software to determine your current financial position and to define and quantify your long-term goals and objectives. Once we specify those long-term objectives, (both financial and non-financial) we will develop shorter-term, targeted objectives. After we review and analyze the information you provide to our firm and the data derived from our financial planning software, we will deliver a written report to you, designed to help you achieve your stated financial goals and objectives.

Financial plans are based on your financial situation at the time we present the plan to you, and on the financial information you provide to our firm. You must promptly notify our firm if your financial situation, goals, objectives, or needs change.

Per the Financial Planning agreement, you are under no obligation to act on our financial planning recommendations. Should you choose to act on any of our recommendations, you are not obligated to implement the financial plan through our firm, our advisory representatives, or any of our other investment advisory services. Moreover, you may act on our recommendations by placing securities transactions with any brokerage firm.

## **Advisory Consulting Services**

We offer Advisory Consulting services through a combination of in-house services, contracted third party vendors and referral arrangements. These services are provided through our firm and non-affiliated entities. This integrated suite of services is designed to complement our *Making Life Better Official Report* by providing a full range of financial services and products.

The Firm's Making Life Better Official Report development begins with a Client CARES Client Confidential Information Organizer (questionnaire) and utilizes proprietary products and tools to analyze a client's financial and investment goals. The process defines how the impact of one financial decision or investment may affect the overall financial goals or objectives of the client. Through this proprietary method, IFA is able to evaluate, prioritize and balance financial values with a client's personal situation.

The Advisory Consulting service involves the following four steps:

- 1. Discovery: Interactive discussion where we listen to discover what is really important to you. Essential information will be gathered to clarify your financial objectives and what you feel would make life better for you.
- 2. Analysis: Review the analysis prepared to understand your unique situation which measures and clarifies your specific goals. This helps you determine your priorities and your appropriate financial commitment.
- 3. Solutions: Based on your situation analysis and the priorities you have identified; appropriate solutions will be presented. These solutions will provide you the best value. This will begin the implementation stage of your plan.
- 4. Service: Establish a well-structured communications and service schedule of future meetings with you as appropriate, to stay on track and make any necessary future adjustments.

Through this process additional services may be suggested, such as:

- **Insurance Solutions.** Life insurance evaluations and strategies, asset and liability risk analysis, disability insurance assessments and long-term care needs.
- **Education Planning.** Assistance in selecting, applying, and funding options for college education. IFA has partnered with SAGE Scholars and participates in its Tuition Rewards program.
- Advisory Services to 401k and 529 Plans. 529 Plans are national advisor-sold savings plan(s) that
  give parents, grandparents, and others a tax-advantaged way to save for a child's college
  education. The Savings Plans and/or 401k Plans feature flexible portfolio solutions using ETFs or
  mutual funds. We will provide assistance with recommendations as to how to allocate your
  investments among the ETFs/mutual funds investment choices.

## **Advisory Services to Retirement Plans**

We offer advisory services to employee benefit plans ("Plan") and to the participants of such plans ("Participants"). The services are designed to assist plan sponsors in meeting their management and fiduciary obligations to Participants under the Employee Retirement Income Securities Act ("ERISA"). Pursuant to adopted regulations of the U.S. Department of Labor under ERISA Section 408(b)(2), we are required to provide the Plan's responsible plan fiduciary (the person who has the authority to engage us as an investment adviser to the Plan) with a written statement of the services we provide to the Plan, the compensation we receive for providing those services, and our status (which is described below).

The services we provide to your Plan and the corresponding compensation are described above, and in the service agreement that you have previously signed with our firm. We may, with consent of the Plan, and in accordance with Plan documents, bill out-of-pocket expenses (such as overnight mailings, messenger, translation fees, etc.) at cost. We do not reasonably expect to receive any other compensation, direct or indirect, for the services we provide to the Plan or Participants. Nonetheless,

since Associated Persons of our firm are registered representatives of broker/dealers and/or licensed insurance agents, these individuals may receive 12b-1 fees, revenue sharing or other forms of indirect compensation in connection with mutual fund investments allowable under applicable authority through Fortune Financial Services, Inc. (refer to Items 5, 10, 12 and 14 for additional disclosures). If we receive <u>any</u> other compensation for such services, we will (i) offset the compensation against our stated fees, and (ii) we will promptly disclose the amount of such compensation, the services rendered for such compensation and the payer of such compensation to you.

In providing services to the Plan and Participants, our status is that of an investment adviser registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, and we are not subject to any disqualifications under Section 411 of ERISA. In performing fiduciary services, we are acting either as a non-discretionary fiduciary of the Plan as defined in Section 3(21) under ERISA, or as a discretionary fiduciary of the plan as defined in Section 3(38) under ERISA.

#### **Sub-Advisory Services**

We offer sub-advisory services to unaffiliated, third party investment advisers and broker/dealers. As part of these services, we will provide certain proprietary investment services called 'Invest with Trust Asset Management Services'. While we are responsible for the overall management of the assets delegated to our firm, we will not communicate investment recommendations or selections directly to the third-party investment adviser(s) and/or broker/dealer(s). Fees and payment arrangements are negotiable and will vary on a case-by-case basis.

## **Types of Investments**

Pursuant to the agreement you enter into with IFA, we will primarily offer advice on exchange traded funds (ETFs) and mutual funds. We offer advice on equity securities, corporate, municipal and government debt securities, MLPs (master limited partnerships), certificates of deposit, and variable annuities.

Additionally, we may advise you on any type of investment that we deem appropriate based on your stated goals and objectives. We may also provide advice on any type of investment held in your portfolio at the inception of our advisory relationship.

#### **Wrap Fee Programs**

IFA is neither the sponsor nor portfolio manager of a wrap fee program in regard to the investment advisory services provided directly to you through IFA.

However, most third-party money management programs are considered "wrap fee" programs in which the client pays a specified fee for portfolio management services and trade execution. Wrap fee programs differ from other programs in that the fee structure for wrap programs is all-inclusive, whereas non-wrap fee programs assess trade execution costs that are in addition to the investment advisory fees. To compare the cost of the wrap fee program with non-wrap fee portfolio management services, you should consider the frequency of trading activity associated with investment strategies and the brokerage commissions charged by the third-party money manager's clearing firm or other broker-dealers, and the advisory fees charged by other investment advisers. Please refer to the recommended third-party money manager's Form ADV Part 2A – Appendix 1, the Wrap Fee brochure for a complete description of the programs and services provided, the amount of total fees, the payment structure, termination provisions and other aspects of wrap fee program.

## **Assets Under Management**

As of January 10, 2024, we managed \$284,940,831in client assets on a discretionary basis and \$0.00 in client assets on a non-discretionary basis.

## Fees and Compensation - Item 5

## **Portfolio Management Services**

Our fee for portfolio management services is based on a percentage of your assets we manage and is set forth in the following fee schedule:

#### Fee Schedule - Invest With Trust®

Non 403b Accounts	403b Accounts
• Account Size \$0 - \$24,999	• Account Size: \$0 - \$24,999
0.95% - 2.45% of Account Value	1.02% – 2.52% of Account Value
• Account Size \$25,000 - \$49,999	• Account Size: \$25,000 - \$49,999
0.90% - 2.40% of Account Value	0.97% – 2.47% of Account Value
• Account Size \$50,000 - \$249,999 0.80% - 2.30% of Account Value	• Account Size: \$50,000 - \$249,999 0.87% - 2.37% of Account Value
• Account Size \$250,000 - \$499,999 0.71% - 1.91% of Account Value	• Account Size: \$250,000 - \$499,999 0.72% - 1.92% of Account Value
• Account Size \$500,000 - \$999,999 0.62% - 1.82% of Account Value	• Account Size: \$500,000 - \$999,999 0.57% - 1.77% of Account Value
• Account Size \$1,000,000 Plus 0.50% - 1.70% of Account Value	• Account Size: \$1,000,000 + 0.42% – 1.62% of Account Value

Sub-advisory strategies are generally based on model portfolios provided by the sponsoring sub-advisor. Certain model portfolios will only include mutual funds and/or exchange traded products that are affiliated with the sub-advisor and which pay fees and other compensation to the sub-advisor and its affiliates. Therefore, the sub-advisor and its affiliates will receive compensation in connection with the management of the affiliated mutual funds and exchange traded products (Funds) included in these model portfolios. Because the sub-advisor and its affiliates are compensated through the use of the sub-advisor's sponsored Funds, the account level management fee for these model portfolios is waived. Therefore, we have an incentive to recommend these model portfolios over other model portfolios where we have a less favorable compensation arrangement. Clients are not required to use the services of any sub-advisor model portfolio or strategy recommended by us.

Certain strategies will have minimum account size requirements ranging from \$2,000 to \$25,000.

#### **Account Services Fees**

An account service fee is charged to each account in the above strategies based on the daily average balance for the prior quarter. Accounts \$24,999.99 and under will be charged \$10 per quarter. Accounts \$25,000 or more will be charged \$18.75 per quarter. These fees are prorated and charged monthly Account size may start at \$0 when systematic contributions are elected; otherwise, account minimum is \$1,000.

## **The Legacy Service**

The portfolio management fee for the Legacy service is based on a percentage of the assets we manage. The Legacy fee pertains only to assets managed within the Legacy service and is set forth in the following fee schedule:

## Fee Schedule – The Legacy Service

- Account Size \$1,000 \$24,999\*
   1.35% of Account Value
- Account Size \$25,000 \$49,999
   1.30% of Account Value
- Account Size \$50,000 \$249,999
   1.25% of Account Value
- Account Size \$250,000 \$499,999
   1.21% of Account Value
- Account Size \$500,000 + 1.00% of Account Value

\*The Mutual Fund strategies have a minimum account size requirement of \$1,000. Each account will be charged a \$12.50 per quarter service fee, which is prorated and charged monthly.

#### **Portfolio Management Terms**

Our portfolio management fees are calculated on a monthly basis based on the client's daily average account balance for the preceding month at 1/12th of the account's predetermined annual fee rate. Portfolio management fees are paid in advance and will be deducted automatically from client's account monthly until the Agreement is terminated.

For 401K and/or 403b accounts our annual portfolio management fee is billed and payable either monthly or quarterly in advance or in arrears and based upon either market value of account or the average daily balance depending upon the agreement you signed with us. The scope of these services, the fees, and the terms of the agreement for these services will be negotiated on a case-by-case basis with each Sponsor.

If the Investment Advisory Agreement is executed at any time other than the first day of a calendar month, our fees will apply on a pro rata basis, which means that the advisory fee is payable in

proportion to the number of days in the month for which you are a client. Our advisory fee is negotiable for the Invest With Trust services, depending on individual client circumstances. The Legacy service fee is not negotiable.

## **Householding of Axos Accounts**

Our practice is to seek to combine the values of accounts custodied at Axos for family members living in the same household to determine the applicable advisory fee. For example, we may combine account values for you and your minor children, joint accounts with your spouse, and other types of related accounts. Householding is determined by primary account Tax Identification Number and then by address. Combining account values may increase the asset total, which may result in your paying a reduced advisory fee based on the available breakpoints in our fee schedule stated above.

As paying agent for our firm, Axos will deduct the investment advisory fee directly from your account. The fee is deducted only when you have given us written authorization permitting the fees to be paid directly from your account. If insufficient cash is available to pay such fees, securities in an amount equal to the balance of unpaid fees will be liquidated to pay for the unpaid balance. Further, the qualified custodian will deliver an account statement to you at least quarterly. These account statements will show all disbursements from your account. You should review all statements for accuracy. We will also receive a duplicate copy of your account statements. We encourage you to reconcile our invoices with the statement(s) you receive from the qualified custodian. If you find any inconsistent information between our invoice and the statement(s) you receive from the qualified custodian please call our main office number located on the cover page of this brochure.

You may terminate the Investment Advisory Agreement upon a 30 day notification to our firm. We are compensated monthly in advance and you are required to give us a 30 day notification to terminate the Agreement.

Upon termination of accounts held at Axos, the custodian will deliver securities and funds held in the account as instructed by client, unless client requests that the account be liquidated. After the Agreement has been terminated, transactions are processed at the prevailing brokerage rates. You are then responsible for monitoring your own assets and IFA has no further obligation to act or provide advice with respect to those assets.

## Selection of Third-Party Advisors, Platforms and Programs

We will share in the fee paid to the third-party advisor. The management fee is disclosed in the third-party advisor's disclosure documents. These fees may or may not be negotiable. Our compensation may differ depending upon our individual agreement with each third-party advisor. As such, we have an incentive to recommend one third-party advisor over another third-party advisor with whom we have a less favorable compensation arrangement or other advisory programs offered by third-party advisors with which we have no compensation arrangements. Clients are not required to use the services of any third-party advisor recommended by us.

In some arrangements you will be required to sign an agreement directly with the recommended third party advisor(s). You may terminate your advisory relationship with the third party advisor according to the terms of your agreement with the third party advisor. You should review each third party advisor's disclosure brochure for specific information on how you may terminate your advisory relationship with the advisor and how you may receive a refund, if applicable. You should contact the third party advisor

directly for questions regarding your advisory agreement with the third party advisor.

## **Financial Planning Services**

We charge a fixed fee for financial planning services, which generally ranges from \$48 to \$7,500. The fee is negotiable depending upon the complexity and scope of the plan, your financial situation, and your objectives. Fixed fee financial planning services are not continuous advisory services, and electing our financial planning services only does not create a portfolio management relationship between you and our firm.

If you request specific consulting services and do not desire a written financial plan, we offer modular financial planning or general consulting services on an hourly basis. Our rate for such services ranges from \$100 to \$400 per hour. This rate is negotiable depending on the scope and complexity of the plan, your financial situation, and your objectives. An estimate of the total time/cost will be determined at the start of the advisory relationship. In limited circumstances, the cost/time could potentially exceed the initial estimate. In such cases, we will notify you in advance and request that you approve the additional fee.

We require that you pay 100% of the fee in advance for a full financial plan. We will not require prepayment of a fee more than six months in advance and in excess of \$1,200. Hourly based financial planning/consulting-based fees are calculated and payable at the completion of each session. In some cases, the hourly fees may be paid weekly, monthly or periodically in arrears.

You may terminate the financial planning agreement by providing written notice to our firm. You will incur a pro rata charge for services rendered prior to the termination of the agreement. If you have prepaid advisory fees that we have not yet earned, you will receive a prorated refund of those fees.

As a normal extension of financial advice, we provide education or recommendations related to the rollover of an employer-sponsored retirement plan. A plan participant leaving employment has several options. Each choice offers advantages and disadvantages, depending on desired investment options and services, fees and expenses, withdrawal options, required minimum distributions, tax treatment, and the investor's unique financial needs and retirement plans. The complexity of these choices may lead an investor to seek assistance from us.

An Associated Person who recommends an investor roll over plan assets into an Individual Retirement Account ("IRA") may earn an asset-based fee as a result, but no compensation if assets are retained in the plan. Thus, we have an economic incentive to encourage an investor to roll plan assets into an IRA. In most cases, fees and expenses will increase to the investor as a result because the above-described fees will apply to assets rolled over to an IRA and outlined ongoing services will be extended to these assets.

We are fiduciaries under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 and when we provide investment advice to you regarding your retirement plan account or individual retirement account, we are also fiduciaries within the meaning of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act and/or the Internal Revenue Code, as applicable, which are laws governing retirement accounts. We have to act in your best interests and not put our interest ahead of yours. At the same time, the way we make money creates some conflicts with your interests.

## **Additional Fees and Expenses**

As part of our investment advisory services to you, we may invest, or recommend that you invest, in mutual funds and exchange traded funds. The fees that you pay to our firm for investment advisory services are separate and distinct from the fees and expenses charged by mutual funds or exchange traded funds (described in each fund's prospectus) to their shareholders. These fees will generally include a management fee and other fund expenses.

You will also incur transaction charges and/or brokerage fees when purchasing or selling securities. These charges and fees are typically imposed by the broker-dealer or custodian through whom your account transactions are executed. The broker-dealer or custodian may also charge your account for custodial fees, retirement account fees, trust fees, exchange fees, redemption fees that may be assessed on mutual fund shares, transfer fees, account termination fees or other special service fees and charges. We do not share in any portion of the brokerage fees/transaction charges/administrative fees imposed by the broker-dealer or custodian. To fully understand the total cost you will incur, you should review all the fees charged by mutual funds, exchange traded funds, our firm, and others. For information on our brokerage practices, please refer to the "Brokerage Practices" section of this Disclosure Brochure.

<u>Negotiability of Fees:</u> We allow Associated Persons servicing the account to negotiate the exact investment management fees within the range disclosed in our Form ADV Part 2A Brochure. As a result, the Associated Person servicing your account may charge more or less for the same service than another Associated Person of our firm. Further, our annual investment management fee may be higher than that charged by other investment advisors offering similar services/programs.

<u>Billing on Cash Positions:</u> The firm treats cash and cash equivalents as an asset class. Accordingly, unless otherwise agreed in writing, all cash and cash equivalent positions (e.g., money market funds, etc.) are included as part of assets under management for purposes of calculating the firm's advisory fee. At any specific point in time, depending upon perceived or anticipated market conditions/events (there being no guarantee that such anticipated market conditions/events will occur), the firm may maintain cash and/or cash equivalent positions for defensive, liquidity, or other purposes. While assets are maintained in cash or cash equivalents, such amounts could miss market advances and, depending upon current yields, at any point in time, the firm's advisory fee could exceed the interest paid by the client's cash or cash equivalent positions.

## **Compensation for the Sale of Securities or Other Investment Products**

IARs providing investment advice on behalf of our firm may be registered representatives with Fortune Financial Services, Inc. ("Fortune"), a securities broker/dealer and member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority and the Securities Investor Protection Corporation. However, not all of our IARs are also registered representatives with a broker-dealer.

In their capacity as registered representatives, the IARs who are registered representatives will receive commission-based compensation in connection with the purchase and sale of securities, including 12b-1 fees for the sale of investment company products through their broker-dealer. Compensation earned by these IARs in their capacity as a registered representative is separate and in addition to our advisory fees. This practice presents a conflict of interest because IARs providing investment advice on behalf of our firm who are registered representatives have an incentive to effect securities transactions for the purpose of generating commissions rather than solely based on your needs. However, you are under no obligation, contractually or otherwise, to purchase securities products through any Associated Person

affiliated with our firm.

IARs providing investment advice on behalf of our firm may be licensed as independent insurance agents. These IARs will earn commission-based compensation for selling insurance products, including insurance products they sell to you. Insurance commissions earned by these IARs are separate and in addition to our advisory fees. This practice presents a conflict of interest because persons providing investment advice on behalf of our firm who are insurance agents have an incentive to recommend insurance products to you for the purpose of generating commissions rather than solely based on your needs. However, you are under no obligation, contractually or otherwise, to purchase insurance products through any Associated Person affiliated with our firm. Not all of our IARs are also insurance agents.

Any material conflicts of interest between you and our firm, or our IARs are disclosed in this Disclosure Brochure. If at any time, additional material conflicts of interest develop, we will provide you with written notification of the material conflicts of interest or an updated Disclosure Brochure.

## Performance-Based Fees and Side-By-Side Management - Item 6

We do not accept performance-based fees or participate in side-by-side management. Side-by-side management refers to the practice of managing accounts that are charged performance-based fees while at the same time managing accounts that are not charged performance-based fees. Performance-based fees are fees that are based on a share of capital gains or capital appreciation of a client's account. Our fees are calculated as described in the *Advisory Business* section above, and are not charged on the basis of a share of capital gains upon, or capital appreciation of, the funds in your advisory account.

## **Types of Clients - Item 7**

We offer investment advisory services to individuals, pension and profit-sharing plans, trusts, estates, and charitable organizations.

In general, we require a minimum of \$1,000 to open and maintain an *Invest with Trust* or a *Legacy* advisory account. At our discretion, we may waive this minimum account size, such as when an account is set up for systematic contributions. Additionally, we charge an ongoing service fee for accounts invested in our *Invest with Trust* service. For accounts with a valuation of \$24,999 and under will be charged \$10 per quarter. For accounts with a valuation of \$25,000 and higher will be charged \$18.75 per quarter. For each account in our Legacy program a \$12.50 quarterly charge will be applied. The service fee is prorated and collected monthly.

Certain strategies will have minimum account size requirements ranging from \$2,000 to \$25,000.

## Methods of Analysis, Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss - Item 8

We use a fundamental method of analysis and Modern Portfolio Theory as our core investment strategies.

Modern Portfolio Theory is a sophisticated investment decision approach that theoretically permits an investor to classify, estimate, and control both the kind and the amount of expected risk and return.

IFA utilizes a computerized analytical tool such as TIFIN Wealth Risk that account for risk in quantitative analysis and decision making. TIFIN Wealth Risk provide a risk profile for investors and their portfolios, as well as a range of possible outcomes and the probabilities that may occur for any choice of action. It shows the extreme possibilities—the outcomes of choosing aggressively and conservatively—along with all possible consequences for middle-of-the-road decisions.

Our investment strategies and advice may vary depending upon each client's specific financial situation. As such, we determine investments and allocations based upon your predefined objectives, risk tolerance, time horizon, financial horizon, financial information, liquidity needs, and other various suitability factors. Your restrictions and guidelines may affect the composition of your portfolio.

We may use short-term trading (in general, selling securities within 30 days of purchasing the same securities) as an investment strategy when managing your account(s). Short-term trading is not a fundamental part of our overall investment strategy, but we may use this strategy occasionally when we determine that it is suitable given your stated investment objectives and tolerance for risk.

Our strategies and investments may have unique and significant tax implications. However, unless we specifically agree otherwise, and in writing, tax efficiency is not our primary consideration in the management of your assets. Regardless of your account size or any other factors, we strongly recommend that you continuously consult with a tax professional prior to and throughout the investing of your assets. We do not offer tax advice.

Moreover, as a result of revised IRS regulations, custodians and broker-dealers report the cost basis of equities acquired in client accounts. Our firm uses the FIFO accounting method for calculating the cost basis of your investments. You are responsible for contacting your tax advisor to determine if this accounting method is the right choice for you. If your tax advisor believes another accounting method is more advantageous, please provide written notice to our firm immediately and we will alert your account custodian of your individually selected accounting method. Please note that decisions about cost basis accounting methods will need to be made before trades settle, as the cost basis method cannot be changed after settlement.

## **Risk of Loss**

Investing in securities involves risk of loss. You should be prepared to bear the risk of financial losses. We do not represent or guarantee that our services or methods of analysis can or will predict future results, successfully identify market tops or bottoms, or insulate clients from losses due to market corrections or declines. We cannot offer any guarantees or promises that your financial goals and objectives will be met. Past performance is in no way an indication of future performance.

#### **Recommendation of Particular Types of Securities**

In our *Invest with Trust* service we primarily recommend exchange traded funds ("ETFs"). For our *Legacy* service we primarily recommend mutual funds. You should be advised of the following risks when investing in these types of securities:

#### **Characterization Risk**

ETFs and mutual funds don't always hold the types of stocks or bonds you may expect. For instance, some sector funds may identify the entire sector yet only represent a portion of the sector. At the same time, similar sector funds may have very different percentages of components. These characterization risks can impact overall performance.

#### **Tracking Error Risk**

ETFs and mutual funds, do not always track the index they are designed to mimic. Often two funds tracking the same index may take two different approaches to tracking the same index. One fund may use full replication, meaning the fund buys every stock in the index in exactly the right weights. Another fund may use optimization, whereby computer algorithms select a subset of the broader index to track the index as a whole. In general, funds that optimize have a greater risk of tracking error than funds that fully replicate their index.

#### **Liquidity Risk**

ETFs and mutual funds are not always easily bought and sold. Liquidity risk is the risk stemming from the lack of marketability of an investment that cannot be bought or sold quickly enough to prevent or minimize a loss.

#### **Spreads Risk**

ETFs are purchased and sold like stocks and, therefore, have bid and ask spreads. The average bid/ask spreads on every ETF is directly correlated to the fund's size, trading liquidity and average spread. Most ETFs have spreads of less than 10 basis points; however, thinly traded ETFs may have spreads greater than 50 basis points. The spreads risk of a thinly traded ETF and/or a volatile market may result in increased transaction costs.

#### **Inverse ETFs Risk**

Inverse ETFs are designed to replicate the opposite direction of market indices, often at a multiple which may include the use of leverage. These ETFs often use a combination of futures, swaps, short sales, and other derivatives to achieve these objectives. Most inverse ETFs are designed to achieve these results on a daily basis only. This means that over periods longer than a trading day, the value of these ETFs can and usually do deviate from the performance of the index they are designed to track. Over longer periods of time or in situations of high volatility, these deviations can be substantial.

#### **Manager Risk**

The risk of the chance that poor security selection or focus on securities in a particular asset class, sector, category, or group of companies will cause a client's portfolio to underperform relevant benchmarks.

## **Disciplinary Information - Item 9**

Interactive Financial Advisers has been registered and providing investment advisory services since 2003. There are no legal or disciplinary events that are material to the evaluation of our advisory business or the integrity of our management.

## Other Financial Industry Activities and Affiliations - Item 10

#### **Registrations with Broker-Dealer**

IARs of IFA may be registered representatives offering securities through Fortune Financial Services, Inc. ("Fortune; an unaffiliated securities broker-dealer and member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA") and the Securities Investor Protection Corporation ("SIPC"). However, not all of our IARs are also registered representatives of a broker-dealer.

IFA's clients are advised that they have total freedom to implement recommendations through any broker-dealer of their choosing. If the client implements recommendations made by IFA by purchasing securities or other products through Fortune, the representative will receive additional compensation in the form of commissions, including 12b-1 fees for the sale of investment company products.

#### **Arrangements with Affiliated Entities**

We are wholly owned by OrganizAmerica, a holding company. Richard L. Peterbok, Chief Executive Officer of Interactive Financial Advisors is the sole owner of OrganizAmerica. Mr. Peterbok is also the sole owner of UniFinancial Corp., a provider of marketing/recruiting services for qualified persons in financial related businesses.

#### **Recommendation of Other Advisers**

We may recommend that you use a third-party money manager ("MM") based on your needs and suitability. We will receive compensation from the MM for recommending that you use their services. These compensation arrangements present a conflict of interest because we have a financial incentive to recommend the services of the third-party money manager. You are not obligated, contractually or otherwise, to use the services of any MM we recommend.

## Code of Ethics, Participation or Interest in Client Transactions and Personal Trading - Item 11

#### **Description of Our Code of Ethics**

We strive to comply with applicable laws and regulations governing our practices. Therefore, our Code of Ethics includes guidelines for professional standards of conduct for our IARs. Our goal is to protect your interests at all times and to demonstrate our commitment to our fiduciary duties of honesty, good faith, and fair dealing with you. All of our IARs are expected to adhere strictly to these guidelines. Our Code of Ethics also requires that certain persons associated with our firm submit reports of their personal account holdings and transactions to a qualified representative of our firm who will review these reports on a periodic basis. Persons associated with our firm are also required to report any violations of our Code of Ethics. Additionally, we maintain and enforce written policies reasonably designed to prevent the misuse or dissemination of material, non-public information about you or your account holdings by persons associated with our firm.

Our Code of Ethics is available to you upon request. You may obtain a copy of our Code of Ethics by contacting Richard Peterbok at <a href="rick@swcares.com">rick@swcares.com</a>.

#### **Personal Trading Practices**

Our firm or persons associated with our firm may buy or sell the same securities that we recommend to you or securities in which you are already invested. A conflict of interest exists in such cases because we

have the ability to trade ahead of you and potentially receive more favorable prices than you will receive. To eliminate this conflict of interest, it is our policy that neither our firm nor our associated persons shall have priority over your account in the purchase or sale of securities.

## **Brokerage Practices - Item 12**

We maintain relationships with a limited number of broker-dealers. While you are free to choose any broker-dealer or other service provider, we recommend that you establish an account with a brokerage firm with which we have an existing relationship. Such relationships may include benefits provided to our firm, including but not limited to, research, market information, administrative services that help our firm manage your account(s) and financial support of advisor educational meetings. We believe the recommended broker-dealers provide quality execution services for our clients at competitive prices. Price is not the sole factor we consider in evaluating best execution. We also consider the quality of the brokerage services provided by recommended broker-dealers, including the value of provided research, the firm's reputation, execution capabilities, commission rates, and responsiveness to our clients and our firm. In recognition of the value of research services and additional brokerage products and services the recommended broker-dealers provide, you may pay higher commissions and/or trading costs than those that may be available elsewhere.

#### **Brokerage for Client Referrals**

We do not receive client referrals from broker-dealers in exchange for using the referring broker-dealer's execution, clearing or custodial services.

## **Directed Brokerage**

We require our *Invest With Trust* and *Legacy Service(s)* clients to direct us to execute transactions and custody investment assets through facilities of Axos Advisor Services ("Axos"), member FINRA and SIPC.

IARs providing investment advice on behalf of our firm who are also registered representatives of Fortune, will recommend Fortune to you for brokerage services. These individuals are subject to applicable rules that restrict them from conducting securities transactions away from Fortune unless Fortune provides the registered representative with written authorization to do so. Therefore, these individuals are generally limited to conducting securities transactions through Fortune. It may be the case that Fortune charges higher transaction costs and/or custodial fees than another broker charges for the same types of services. If transactions are executed though Fortune these individuals (in their separate capacities as registered representatives of Fortune) may earn commission-based compensation as result of placing the recommended securities transactions through Fortune. This practice presents a conflict of interest because these registered representatives have an incentive to effect securities transactions for the purpose of generating commissions rather than solely based on your needs. You may utilize the broker-dealer of your choice and have no obligation to purchase or sell securities through such broker as we recommend. However, if you do not use Fortune we may not be able to accept your account. Please see the "Fees and Compensation" section in this Brochure for more information on the compensation received by registered representatives who are affiliated with our firm.

#### **Block Trades**

We combine multiple orders for shares of the same securities purchased or sold for the *Invest With Trust* advisory accounts we manage. This practice is commonly referred to as "block trading". We will

then distribute the shares to participating accounts in a fair and equitable manner. The distribution of the shares purchased is typically proportionate to the size of the account, but it is not based on account performance or the amount or structure of management fees. Subject to our discretion regarding factual and market conditions, when we combine orders, each participating account pays an average price per share for all transactions and pays a proportionate share of all transaction costs. Accounts owned by our firm or persons associated with our firm may participate in block trading with your accounts; however, they will not be given preferential treatment.

## **Review of Accounts - Item 13**

Richard L. Peterbok, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Compliance Officer, of Interactive Financial Advisors will monitor the models and strategies on an ongoing basis. Account reviews are performed by the client's Advisory Representative at least once annually. The Chief Compliance Officer and other designated compliance staff oversee the process and provide supervisory review.

We will notify you in writing to contact us or the Representative if there have been changes in your financial situation or investment objectives, or if you wish to impose or modify any reasonable account restrictions for a Legacy account. Such notification shall occur at least annually.

Our reviews ensure that the advisory services provided to you and/or the portfolio mix of your portfolio is consistent with your investment needs and objectives. Additional reviews may be conducted based on various circumstances, including, but not limited to:

- state of the economic markets
- changes in the clients' financial situation
- tax considerations
- upon your request

We do not provide you with additional or regular written reports in conjunction with account reviews. You will receive trade confirmations and monthly or quarterly statements from your account custodian(s).

For our financial planning clients, we recommend, at a minimum, an annual review of your progress with the financial plan. We will provide our financial planning clients with updates to their financial plan, when appropriate, based on and in accordance with a review of the plan.

For accounts managed through sub-advisory services the Representative responsible for your account will, at least annually, review the performance and suitability of the account(s). The Representative will review your objectives and suitability needs and determine whether you would be better suited to a different service or other non-advisory investment. Your Representative will be responsible for communicating and documenting recommendations to you.

## **Client Referrals and Other Compensation - Item 14**

As disclosed under the "Fees and Compensation" section in this Brochure, persons providing investment advice on behalf of our firm may also be licensed insurance agents, and may also be registered

representatives with Fortune Financial Services, Inc. ("Fortune"), a securities broker-dealer and member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority and the Securities Investor Protection Corporation. For information on the conflicts of interest this presents, and how we address these conflicts, please refer to the "Fees and Compensation" section of this Brochure. However, not all of our IARs are also registered representatives and/or insurance agents.

As described in Item 12 above, we receive economic benefits from our custodial broker dealer in the form of support products and services they make available to us and other independent investment advisors whose clients maintain their accounts at these custodial broker dealers. The availability of custodial products and services is not dependent upon or based on the specific investment advice we provide our clients, such as buying or selling specific securities or specific types of securities for our clients. The products and services provided by the custodial broker dealer, how they benefit us, and the related conflicts of interest are described above (see Item 12 – Brokerage Practices).

#### **Independent Contractor Compensation:**

We have entered into contractual arrangements with our Investment Adviser Representatives, who are independent contractors. Representatives of Interactive Financial Advisors receive compensation from our firm for the recruitment of new Investment Adviser Representatives and their establishment of a relationship with our firm. Recruitment compensation of the referring Representative ranges between 0.05% and 0.25% of the client assets of each referred Representative that becomes an IAR of IFA. The recruitment based compensation level will depend upon circumstances and management activities. Representatives may also receive additional benefits including subsidized travel expenses and cash bonuses to be used for the reimbursement of expenses related to our Annual Conference. Such Agreements will comply with the requirements as set forth in Rule 206(4)-3 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, and/or applicable state statutes, to the extent they apply. Under these arrangements, the client does not pay higher fees than IFA's normal/typical advisory fees.

## **Referral Programs**

We may receive recruitment referrals of new Investment Adviser Representatives through Agreements with Fortune Financial Services, Inc. ("Fortune"), a securities broker/dealer and member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority and the Securities Investor Protection Corporation.

We will pay Fortune a recruitment referral fee ranging from 0.00% to 0.10% of client assets generated from the accounts opened through this program. The client accounts opened through this recruitment program will not be charged any additional fees or costs in excess of our standard fee schedule.

Representatives referred to our firm must comply with the requirements of the jurisdictions where they operate. Representatives under this arrangement have a financial incentive to recommend our firm for advisory services. This creates a conflict of interest; however, clients are not obligated to retain our firm for advisory services. Comparable services and/or lower fees may be available through other firms.

#### Ramsey Solutions –SmartVestor™

We have entered into an advertising and endorsement agreement with Ramsey Solutions ("RS") whereby in exchange for a flat monthly marketing fee RS provides online advertising services and refers potential clients to IFA advisors. The services include advertising space on RS's web-based SmartVestor™, client referrals based on particular geographic markets, use of the SmartVestor™ marks in advertising, and the provision of other marketing materials. Potential clients using the SmartVestor™

site may request that an advisor associated with SmartVestor contact the client. RS SmartVestor screens the requests and, based upon geographic proximity, provides potential clients with contact information on SmartVestor advisors. SmartVestor advisors also receive contact information on the potential clients. No guarantees of performance or success are offered.

## Custody - Item 15

Axos Advisor Services, the qualified custodian used in our *Invest With Trust* and Legacy portfolio management services will calculate and directly debit your account(s) for the payment of our advisory fees. The ability to deduct our advisory fees from your accounts causes our firm to exercise limited custody over your funds and/or securities. We do not have physical custody of any of your funds and/or securities. Your funds and securities will be held with Axos Advisor Services. You will receive account statements from these independent, qualified custodian(s) holding your funds and securities at least quarterly. The account statements from your custodian(s) will indicate the amount of our advisory fees deducted from your account(s) each billing period. You should carefully review account statements for accuracy.

If you have a question regarding your account statement or if you did not receive a statement from your custodian, please contact us at 630-472-1300.

## **Investment Discretion - Item 16**

Before we can take discretionary authority over the decisions to buy or sell securities on your behalf, you must first sign our discretionary management agreement. By signing our discretionary management agreement, you are granting our firm the limited right to make certain investment decisions on your behalf.

## Discretionary

You may grant our firm discretion over the selection and amount of securities to be purchased or sold for your account(s) without obtaining your consent or approval prior to each transaction. You may specify investment objectives, guidelines, and/or impose certain conditions or investment parameters for your account(s). For example, you may specify that the investment in any particular stock or industry should not exceed specified percentages of the value of the portfolio and/or restrictions or prohibitions of transactions in the securities of a specific industry or security. Please refer to the "Advisory Business" section in this Brochure for more information on our discretionary management services.

## **Voting Client Securities - Item 17**

#### **Proxy Voting**

We will not vote proxies on behalf of your advisory accounts. At your request, we may offer you advice regarding corporate actions and the exercise of your proxy voting rights. If you own shares of common stock or mutual funds, you are responsible for exercising your right to vote as a shareholder.

In most cases, you will receive proxy materials directly from the account custodian. However, in the event we receive any written or electronic proxy materials specific to your account(s), we will forward them directly to you by mail. The sole exception exists where you have authorized our firm to contact

you by electronic mail, in which case, we would forward any electronic solicitation to you to vote proxies.

## **Financial Information - Item 18**

We are not required to provide financial information to our clients because we do not:

- require the prepayment of more than \$1,200 in fees and six or more months in advance, or
- take custody of client funds or securities, or
- have a financial condition that is reasonably likely to impair our ability to meet our commitments to you.

## Requirements for State-Registered Advisors - Item 19

We are a federally registered investment adviser; therefore, we are not required to respond to this item.

## Miscellaneous

#### **Privacy**

We view protecting your private information as a top priority. Pursuant to applicable privacy requirements, we have instituted policies and procedures to ensure that we keep your personal information private and secure.

We do not disclose any non-public personal information about you to any non-affiliated third parties, except as permitted by law. In the course of servicing your account, we may share some information with our service providers, such as transfer agents, custodians, broker-dealers, accountants, consultants, and attorneys.

We restrict internal access to non-public personal information about you to employees, who need that information in order to provide products or services to you. We maintain physical and procedural safeguards that comply with regulatory standards to guard your non-public personal information and to ensure our integrity and confidentiality. We will not sell information about you or your accounts to anyone. We do not share your information unless it is required to process a transaction, at your request, or required by law.

You will receive a copy of our privacy notice prior to or at the time you sign an advisory agreement with our firm. Thereafter, we will deliver a copy of the current privacy policy notice to you on an annual basis. Please contact Richard Peterbok at 630-472-1300 or via email at <a href="mailto:rick@swcares.com">rick@swcares.com</a> if you have any questions regarding this policy.

#### **Trade Errors**

In the event a trading error occurs in your account, our policy is to restore your account to the position it should have been in had the trading error not occurred. Depending on the circumstances, corrective actions may include canceling the trade, adjusting an allocation, and/or reimbursing the account. The gains and losses may be reconciled within IFA's custodian firm account and IFA or the custodian may retain the net gains and losses.

# Mark A. Bertrang

# **Interactive Financial Advisors**

100 Batson Ct. Suite 104 New Lenox, IL 60451

Phone 630-472-1300 Fax 844-270-4905 www.someonewhocares.com

1401 Main Street, Suite 101 Onalaska, WI 54650 Phone: 608-782-5433

January 7, 2025

Form ADV Part 2B Brochure Supplement

This Brochure Supplement provides information about Mark A. Bertrang that supplements the Interactive Financial Advisors Brochure. You should have received a copy of that Brochure. Please contact 630-472-1300 if you did not receive Interactive Financial Advisors' Brochure or if you have any questions about the contents of this supplement.

Additional information about Mark A. Bertrang is available on the SEC's website at <a href="https://www.adviserinfo.sec.gov">www.adviserinfo.sec.gov</a>.

## **Educational Background and Business Experience - Item 2**

Mark A. Bertrang Year of Birth: 1960

#### Education:

• Brown Institute, Minneapolis, MN, Radio and TV Broadcasting, Associates Degree, 09/1979

#### **Business:**

- Interactive Financial Advisors, Investment Adviser Representative, 01/2016

   Present
- Fortune Financial Services, Registered Representative, 09/2020 Present
- Brooklight Place Securities, Registered Representative, 03/2013 09/2020
- Bertrang Financial Corp., President, 08/1995 12/2024
- Financialoscopy Inc., President, 01/2025 Present

## **Professional Designations Qualifications:**

## Chartered Life Underwriter® (CLU®), 1993

The CLU® designation is issued by The American College of Financial Services in Bryn Mawr, Pennsylvania. This designation is granted to individuals who hold the ChFC® and/or CFP® certification and want to enhance their careers by completing at least five courses to earn the CLU® designation in addition to having at least three years of full-time business experience within the five years preceding the awarding of the designation. The candidate is required to take courses which gives advisors an indepth knowledge of life insurance underwriting concepts and life insurance law within the context of overall risk management, the necessary knowledge to help clients address their estate planning needs, and an understanding of solutions addressing the life insurance underwriting needs of business owners and professionals.

#### Chartered Financial Consultant® (ChFC®), 1995

The Chartered Financial Consultant® designation is a financial credential awarded by the American College to individuals who satisfy educational, work experience and ethics requirements. Recipients of the ChFC® certification have completed, and passed examinations, on at least seven mandatory college-level courses in the areas of financial, insurance, retirement and/or estate planning, as well as income taxation and/or investments. Additionally, recipients have completed at least three elective courses on the financial system, estate planning applications, executive compensation, and/or retirement decisions. In order to maintain this designation, ChFC® holders must satisfy the ongoing requirements of the Professional Achievement in Continuing Education ("PACE"), which includes at least 30 hours of continuing education every two years.

#### **Disciplinary Information - Item 3**

Mark A. Bertrang has no legal or disciplinary events to report. Mark A Bertrang also does not have any administrative enforcement proceedings, self-regulatory organization enforcement proceedings or any other proceedings to report.

#### Other Business Activities - Item 4

## **Registered Representative of Fortune Financial Services**

Mark Bertrang is a registered representative with Fortune Financial Services, Inc. Fortune Financial Services, Inc. is a diversified financial services company engaged in the sale of specialized investment products. In this capacity, Mark Bertrang may recommend securities or insurance products offered by Fortune Financial Services, Inc. as part of your investment portfolio. If clients purchase these products through Mark Bertrang, he will receive the customary commissions in his separate capacity as registered representatives of Fortune Financial Services, Inc.

Additionally, Mark Bertrang could be eligible to receive incentive awards such as Fortune Financial Services, Inc. may offer. He may also receive 12b-1 fees from mutual funds that pay such fees. The receipt of additional compensation may give Mark Bertrang an incentive to recommend investment products based on the compensation received, rather than on your investment needs. Please refer to the Fees and Compensation section and the Client Referrals and Other Compensation section of Interactive Financial Advisors' firm brochure for additional disclosures on this topic.

Insurance Broker Mark Bertrang is independently licensed to sell insurance and annuity products through various insurance companies. When acting in this capacity, Mark Bertrang will receive commissions for selling insurance and annuity products. Mark Bertrang may also receive other incentive awards for the recommendation/sale of annuities and other insurance products. The receipt of compensation and other incentive benefits may affect the judgment of Mark Bertrang when recommending products to its clients. While Mark Bertrang endeavors at all times to put the interest of his clients first as a part of Interactive Financial Advisor's overall fiduciary duty to clients, clients should be aware that the receipt of commissions and additional compensation itself creates a conflict of interest, and may affect Mark A. Bertrang's decision making process when making recommendations.

#### **Additional Compensation – Item 5**

Please refer to the *Other Business Activities* section above for disclosures on Mr. Bertrang's receipt of additional compensation as a result of his activities as a registered representative of Fortune Financial Services, a licensed insurance agent and his activities through Financialoscopy®.

Mark Bertrang is the author of "Investments Don't Hug" for which he receives royalties from the sale of the book.

Also, please refer to the *Fees and Compensation* section and the *Client Referrals and Other Compensation* section of Interactive Financial Advisors firm brochure for additional disclosures on this topic.

## **Supervision - Item 6**

Mark A. Bertrang is supervised by Richard L. Peterbok, President and Chief Compliance Officer of Interactive Financial Advisors. Mr. Peterbok monitors e-mail communications and reviews personal accounts on a periodic basis. Mr. Peterbok can be reached at 630-472-1300.

#### Form CRS Client Relationship Summary

## Interactive Financial Advisors Amended May 7, 2024

#### Item 1 - Introduction: Is an investment advisory account right for you?

Interactive Financial Advisors is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as an investment advisor. Please be aware that brokerage and investment advisory services and fees differ and that it is important for you to understand the differences. Free and simple tools are available to research firms and financial professionals at <a href="Investor.gov/CRS">Investor.gov/CRS</a>, which also provides educational materials about broker-dealers, investment advisers, and investing.

## Item 2 – What investment services and advice can you provide me?

We offer investment advisory services to retail investors. Our principle services include Portfolio Management, Financial Planning and the Selection of Other Advisers. As part of our standard portfolio management service we provide continuous and regular supervisory and/or management services with respect to your account(s). We monitor your investments on a continuous basis. We do not monitor the investments made as a result of a financial plan unless you have hired us for portfolio management services. Our portfolio management services are offered on a *discretionary* basis. *Discretionary* authorization allows us to determine the specific securities, and the amount of securities, to be purchased or sold for your account without your approval prior to each transaction. We do not limit our advice to proprietary products, or a limited menu of products or types of investments. In general, we require a minimum of \$1,000 to open and maintain an *Invest with Trust* or a *Legacy* advisory account. At our discretion, we reserve the right to waive this account minimum. Certain strategies will have minimum account size requirements ranging from \$2,000 to \$25,000.

For additional information, please refer to Items 4, 7, & 13 of our Form ADV Part 2A at the following link: https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/firm/brochure/125117.

Conversation Starters. Ask your financial professional—

- Given my financial situation, should I choose an investment advisory service? Why or why not?
- \* How will you choose investments to recommend to me?
- What is your relevant experience, including your licenses, education and other qualifications? What do these qualifications mean?

#### Item 3 – What fees will I pay?

We are primarily compensated by a percentage of assets under our management, hourly charges and fixed fees. Our fees vary depending on the services you receive. Portfolio management fees are based upon a percentage of your assets under our management, and are payable each month in advance. The more assets there are in your advisory account, the more you will pay in fees. Therefore, we have an incentive to encourage you to increase the assets in your account. When we refer you to a third party investment adviser, we receive a portion of the third party investment adviser's fee as compensation. We provide financial planning services for an hourly or fixed fee. Our fees are negotiable depending upon the complexity and scope of the service, your financial situation, and your objectives.

For additional information regarding our fees, please see Item 5 of our Form ADV Part 2A at the following link: https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/firm/brochure/125117.

Description of Other Fees and Costs: In addition to our advisory fees, we charge a quarterly account servicing fee that is based on the daily average balance for the prior quarter. The fees that you pay to our firm for investment advisory services are separate and distinct from the fees and expenses charged by investment companies (e.g., mutual funds, exchange traded funds, unit investment trusts and variable annuities). These fees are described in each fund's prospectus. These fees will generally include a management fee and other fund expenses. You will also incur transaction charges and/or brokerage fees when purchasing or selling securities. These charges and fees are typically imposed by the broker-dealer or custodian that executes the trade. The broker-dealer or custodian may also charge your account for custodial fees, retirement account fees, trust fees, exchange fees, redemption fees that may be assessed on investment company shares, transfer fees, account termination fees or other special service fees and charges. We do not share in any portion of these fees imposed by the broker-dealer or custodian. To fully understand the total cost you will incur, you should review all the fees charged by investment companies, broker-dealers, our firm, and others.

You will pay fees and costs whether you make or lose money on your investments. Fees and costs will reduce any amount of money you make on your investments over time. Please make sure you understand what fees and costs you are paying.

For additional information, please refer to Item 5 of Form ADV Part 2A at the following link: <a href="https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/firm/brochure/125117">https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/firm/brochure/125117</a>.

Conversation Starter. Ask your financial professional—

Help me understand how these fees and costs might affect my investments. If I give you \$10,000 to invest, how much will go to fees and costs, and how much will be invested for me?

What are your legal obligations to me when acting as my investment adviser? How else does your firm make money and what conflicts of interest do you have?

When we act as your investment adviser, we have to act in your best interest and not put our interest ahead of yours. At the same time, the way we make money creates some conflicts with your interests. You should understand and ask us about these conflicts because they can affect the investment advice we provide you. Here are some examples to help you understand what this means:

- All investment advisers face conflicts of interest which are inherent in the business. Our primary source of compensation is through asset based fees. Therefore, we are incentivized to acquire new clients and to increase assets under management. Other conflicts of interest result from other business activities we engage in and relationships we have with business partners and third parties, or affiliations we have established with other financial institutions.
- We may recommend that you use a third party advisor (TPA) and we will share in the compensation received by the
  TPA for managing your account. The compensation arrangement presents a conflict of interest due to a financial
  incentive to recommend the services of the third party advisor. You are not required to use the services of any TPA
  we recommend.
- When we provide investment advice to you regarding your retirement plan account or individual retirement account, we are fiduciaries within the meaning of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act and/or the Internal Revenue Code, as applicable, which are laws governing retirement accounts. We have to act in your best interest and not put our interest ahead of yours. At the same time, the way we make money creates some conflicts with your interests.

Conversation Starter. Ask your financial professional—

❖ How might your conflicts of interest affect me, and how will you address them?

Please refer to our Form ADV Part 2A for further information on our conflicts of interest and how we address them at the following link: <a href="https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/firm/brochure/125117">https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/firm/brochure/125117</a>.

## How do your financial professionals make money?

Our financial professionals receive a percentage of advisory billings based on the amount of client assets they bring to our firm. Therefore, our financial professionals have an incentive to encourage you to increase the assets in your account. Financial professionals may also participate in IFA sponsored contests where prizes in the form of gift certificates are awarded for asset gathering. Our financial professionals may be insurance agents and registered representatives with Fortune Financial Services, Inc. a securities broker-dealer. This creates a conflict of interest because these persons will receive additional commission-based compensation in connection with the purchase and sale of insurance and securities, including 12b-1 fees for the sale of certain investment company products. You are not required to purchase insurance or securities from our financial professionals. However, not all of our IARs are also registered representatives and/or insurance agents.

#### Item 4 – Do you or your financial professionals have legal or disciplinary history?

No, for our firm. Yes, for a financial professional.

For a free, simple search tool to research us and our financial professionals please visit Investor.gov/CRS.

Conversation Starter. Ask your financial professional—

As a financial professional, do you have any disciplinary history? For what type of conduct?

## Item 5 – Additional Information

For additional information about our advisory services, please refer to our Form ADV Part 2A brochure available at <a href="https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/firm/brochure/125117">https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/firm/brochure/125117</a> and the individual Form ADV Part 2B brochure supplement(s) your representative provides. If you have any questions, need up-to-date information and/or need a copy of this Client Relationship Summary, please contact us at (630) 472-1300.

Conversation Starters. Ask your financial professional—

- Who is my primary contact person?
- ❖ Is he or she a representative of an investment adviser or a broker-dealer?
- ❖ Who can I talk to if I have concerns about how this person is treating me?

# Interactive Financial Advisors Privacy Notice

-No Action Required-

Interactive Financial Advisors ("IFA") believes it is essential that we maintain the privacy of nonpublic personal information that you provide to us and that we obtain in connection with providing our products and services to you.

#### Information We Collect

IFA limits the use, collection, and retention of such information to what we believe is necessary or useful to conduct our business, provide quality service, and offer products, services, and other opportunities that may be of interest to you, our customer. Information collected about you may include, but is not limited to your name, address, telephone number, tax identification number, date of birth, employment status, annual income, and net worth.

In providing products and services to you, we collect nonpublic personal information about you from these sources:

- 1. Investment/insurance applications, new account forms and other forms and agreements;
- 2. Transactions with us, our clearing firm, or other chosen investment sponsors; and
- 3. Other various materials we may use to put forth an appropriate recommendation or to fill a service request.

#### What Information We Disclose

We do not disclose the nonpublic personal information we collect about you to anyone except: (i) in furtherance of our business relationship with you and then only to those persons necessary to effect the transactions and provide the services that you authorize, such as broker-dealers, custodians, independent managers, etc.; (ii) to persons assessing our compliance with industry standards (e.g., professional licensing authorities, etc.); (iii) our attorneys, accountants, and auditors; or (iv) as otherwise provided by law.

We are permitted by law to disclose the nonpublic personal information about you to governmental agencies and other third parties in certain circumstances. We may disclose all of the information we collect to affiliates or third party companies that perform marketing services on our behalf or to other financial institutions with whom we have joint marketing agreements.

Our affiliates include OrganizAmerica and UniFinancial. If your financial advisor's affiliation with us ends and the advisor joins another financial services company, your advisor may be permitted to contact you by using information limited to your name, address, email address, phone number and account title.

## Safeguards for Protecting your Privacy

If you decide to close your account(s) or to become an inactive client, we will continue to adhere to the privacy policies and practices as described in this notice, as may be amended from time to time.

We further restrict access to nonpublic personal information about you to those investment advisor representatives ("IARs") and employees who need to know that information to provide our products or services to you. We maintain physical, electronic, and procedural safeguards that comply with federal standards to guard your nonpublic personal information.

If you have questions about this privacy policy, please call Michael Scherrman at (800) 261-1660, ext. 203.

Interactive Financial Advisors, Inc. 100 Batson Court, Suite 104 New Lenox, IL 60451

#### Axos Advisor Services Fee Schedule

Axos Advisor Services Fee Schedule ("Fee Schedule") sets forth the fees and related services for all Interactive Financial Advisors, Inc. Accounts (including, without limitation, Accounts known informally as "IFA" and "IFA2") and is governed by and applicable to the Services under the Agreement. Capitalized terms not defined herein have the meaning set forth in the Agreement. Notwithstanding the instructions below to deduct fee from Advisor or Client, Advisor may update fee information from time to time in accordance with Axos' then in effect processes and procedures.

#### Section I: Basic Fee Information

## **Annual Asset Custody Fee Per Account**

All Accounts 7 Basis Points

All reporting of transactions, reconciliation of Accounts, and settlement of trades will be done in U.S. dollars. Fees will be deducted per designations made in the Advisor Service Agreement.

## Section II: Requirements and Additional Information

## 1. Annual Asset Custody Fees

a. Axos computes annual asset custody fees at the end of each quarter and assesses the computed fees each April, July, October and January for the prior quarter. Fees are prorated based on the number of days in each quarter and charged in arrears based on the average daily account balance during the quarter.

## 2. Trade Execution Charges<sup>1</sup>

- a. All Equity and ETF trades will be executed through Axos' default execution source.
- b. Axos may direct equity and ETF trades away from Axos' default execution source if Advisor notifies Axos in writing in accordance with Axos' then in effect procedures and, at Axos' sole discretion, Axos accepts such instruction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Axos reserves the right to suspend execution charges for all or some Accounts for any length of time, with or without notice, and to re-impose such fees with or without notice. For the avoidance of doubt, waiver of fees for any length of time shall not serve as waiver of right to impose fees in the future.

- c. Bond trades will be executed through one of Axos' default execution sources with a fee of \$50 per omnibus transaction.
- d. Axos may direct bond trades away from Axos' default execution source if Advisor notifies Axos in writing in accordance with Axos' then in effect procedures and, at Axos' sole discretion, Axos accepts such instruction. Bond trades executed away from Axos' default execution sources will be charged a transaction fee of \$100.

## 3. Mutual Fund Transactions & Additional Holding Period Fees

- a. Axos and/or its affiliates shall retain all service, 12b(1), sub-transfer agent and similar fees.
- b. For trades submitted through the Axos Licensed Program, Axos' mutual fund trade cutoff time is equal to the fund company's cut-off time unless otherwise listed in the fund security table closing time field in the Axos Licensed Program.
- c. Fund companies may impose a minimum holding period. Short-term redemption fees or contingent deferred sales charges may be assessed by the fund company if assets are redeemed or exchanged before the fund's specified minimum holding periods have elapsed.
- d. It is the sole responsibility of each Advisor to know and abide by the requirements of each fund utilized.
- e. Fund company short-term redemption fees and contingent deferred sales charges will be recorded on the trade ticket and assessed to the individual Advisor Accounts participating in the trade.

## 4. Fee Schedule Applicability and Administration

- a. All Client Accounts and assets; whether managed by Advisor or by another firm engaged by Advisor shall be governed by this schedule and all fees noted herein.
- b. All Accounts and assets managed by Advisor for advisors with existing agreements and relationships with Axos shall be governed by the existing fee schedules and agreements executed with those advisors; and not Advisor.
- c. All Accounts and assets managed by Advisor for advisors that do not have a direct relationship and agreements with Axos shall be governed by the Advisor fee schedule and agreements.
- d. For those advisors that Advisor manages assets for; Axos reserves the right to enter into discussions and execute a separate fee schedule and agreements should they be asked to do so.

## **Section III: Account Service Fees**

Axos' Account service fees are assessed on transaction activities and services outside standard asset custody and trading. Notwithstanding the instruction below to deduct fee from Advisor or Client, Advisor may update fee information from time to time in accordance with Axos' then in effect processes and procedures.

Account Service Fees		
Check Distribution	\$0	
Terminating Fee	\$25	
Outgoing Wired Funds	\$0	
ACH on Demand or Systematic	\$0	
Returned Check	\$25 per occurrence	
Cancelled Check	\$0	
Non-traditional Asset Custody in Qualified Accounts	\$12.50 per asset quarterly per account	
Non-traditional Asset Custody in Non- Qualified Accounts	\$37.50 per asset quarterly per account	
Next Day Mail Service	\$20 per request	
SoloK Annual Maintenance Fee	\$50 quarterly	
SoloK Loan Fee	\$100 per loan	
Paper Statements	\$0	